
 
 

Hillsborough Planning Board Agenda 
7 p.m. November 17, 2016 
Town Barn, 101 E. Orange St. 
 
 
 
 
ITEM #1: Call to order and confirmation of a quorum 
 
ITEM #2: Consideration of additions or changes to the agenda 
 
ITEM #3: Approval of minutes from September meeting and October public hearing 
 
ITEM #4: Approval of 2017 meeting calendar 
 
ITEM #5: Recommendation to Town Board regarding request from Vouthaus, LLC to Rezone 9.75 acres at 505 Eno 

Street from General Industrial to Adaptive Re-Use so the building can house a wider variety of uses that 
are not industrial (OC PIN 9864-65-3492). 

 
ITEM #6: Recommendation to Town Board regarding request from the Little School Development LLC to Modify 

their approved Special Use Permit to create additional on-site parking and remove the enrollment 
limitation (OC PIN 9873-25-6187). 

 
ITEM #7: Recommendation to Town Board regarding Text Amendments to Unified Development Ordinance: 

a. Amend Section 6.20, Stormwater, to match state minimum requirements and meet the mandate for 
local regulations to not be more stringent than the state. 

b. Amend Section 7.3, Nonconforming Characteristics of Use, to provide guidance on when a site is 
required to correct existing non-conforming characteristics. 

c. Amend Section 3.8.5.1.a to modify cultural resource documentation requirement for special use 
permit applicants. 

d. Amend Section 3.13.3.d to make reference to the traffic impact study requirements in the street 
standards document. 

e. Delete reference to the Design Standards manual in Section 6.2 and list this section as “reserved for 
future codification” 

f. Amend Section 6.11.7.3 to remove the sentence requiring site lighting to be extinguished when a 
business is closed. 

g. Amend Section 7.5.2.1 to clarify that non-conforming residential lots are buildable. 
 
ITEM #8: Adjourn  
 
 
 Please call the Planning Department if you cannot attend. 



Planning Board Minutes 
September 15, 2016 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 

MINUTES 
HILLSBOROUGH TOWN BOARD  

Thursday, September 15, 2016 
7:00 PM, Town Barn 

 
PRESENT: Chair Dan Barker, James Czar, Erin Eckert, Lisa Frazier, Janie Morris, Doug Peterson, Jenn Sykes,  
STAFF: Planning Director Margaret Hauth, Eddie Sain 
 
ITEM #1: Call to order and confirmation of a quorum 

Chair Barker called the meeting to order and Ms. Hauth confirmed the presence of a quorum.  
 
ITEM #2: Consideration of additions or changes to the agenda 

There were none. 
 
ITEM #3: Approval of minutes from August meeting  

Ms. Eckert suggested a language clarification in the motion made on the townhome development. 
Ms. Hauth reported that Monday night the Town Board approved the project with the condition re-
worded by Town Attorney Bob Hornik. Ms. Hauth suggested an edit to make the motion clearer in 
the minutes. 

MOTION: Ms. Morris made a motion to approve the minutes as corrected. Ms. Eckert seconded. 
VOTE:  Unanimous 
 
ITEM #4: Discussion of package of text amendments needed to make ordinance compliant with state 

law regarding stormwater.  
Ms. Hauth explained recent state law stipulates that municipalities cannot be more strict than the 
state is. These amendments reflect that. Ms. Hauth said she doesn’t know that these changes will 
impact water quality but they are changes that cannot be considered editorial. She clarified that the 
state law hasn’t changed, the law just stipulates that local laws can’t be more strict than state law.  

MOTION:  Mr. Czar moved to send these to public hearing. Ms. Frazier seconded.  
VOTE:  Unanimous 
 
ITEM #5: Discussion of potential text amendments regarding non-conformities 

Ms. Hauth explained there’s a provision in the ordinance that basically says non-conformities are 
bad and you can’t make things worse. If you are expanding and non-conforming, you really need to 
try to come into compliance. It’s not a hard and fast rule. She gave two examples.  
 
One is a house on Cornelius Street, the Barber Shop next to former Lunsford store. The house was 
zoned commercial years ago. A barber comes in and doesn’t need to do anything but put gravel 
down for parking. The planning staff debated whether the business owner needed to put in 
landscaping, a buffer in back, and pave the parking. Planning staff decided not to insist on those 
improvements.  
 
Her second example is the Music Makers building, which had been developed commercially long 
before Hillsborough had zoning and it’s across from a cemetery and across from houses. There are 
no buffers, no setbacks. Music Makers wanted to build an addition. Planning staff has cautioned 
Music Makers that the addition could trigger having to come into compliance. Music Makers is 
holding off.  
 
Ms. Hauth said she understands we do want businesses to meet the new ordinances because we are 
trying to set up a higher standard, but she is asking this board to consider whether there is a range 
of conditions under which it’s better to let the business occupy the building and not fully enforce 



Planning Board Minutes 
September 15, 2016 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

the ordinance until somebody wants to make a bigger investment in the building. She tried to list 
out a range of circumstances.  
 
Ms. Hauth said she tried to put in something about when the property is redeveloped versus 
rezoned, but she wasn’t as comfortable with that. She added there are a range of other examples 
and that she could have just as easily talked about the car dealerships on South Churton Street.  
 
Chair Barker said what came to his mind is the UNC ADA compliance calculation when 
upgrading. That rule is upgrading for ADA compliance should not exceed 10 percent of the 
calculated costs. Mr. Czar acknowledged among Ms. Hauth’s suggestions was a similar calculation 
(number 7 under 7.3.2). 
 
Ms. Eckert said this is assuming neighboring properties aren’t bothered by the business. If someone 
else comes in to the building and neighbors have been complaining about nonconforming lighting, 
then it would have to be addressed. Ms. Hauth said it’s fairly uncommon to get those kinds of 
complaints. Ms. Hauth suggested we could say if the file contains verifiable complaints, Chair 
Barker added then those are the prioritized things to resolve. Mr. Peterson wondered how does one 
determine the cost of upfitting a building. Mr. Czar said anything with a permit has an estimated 
cost. He suggested replacement cost should perhaps be assessed tax value instead. Ms. Hauth 
agreed.  
 
Ms. Hauth said perhaps she can apply this to a couple of circumstances and circle it through staff 
and Mr. Hornik. Ms. Eckert is thinking if someone buys property next to a nonconformity with the 
assumption that when the use changes, the property will get improved, that person could be 
frustrated/disappointed if the town says the new business doesn’t have to come into compliance. 
Ms. Hauth clarified we’re talking about nonconforming characteristics. It’s not a nonconforming 
use. It’s the lighting, the amount of parking, the dumpster location, the landscaping.  

MOTION: Mr. Peterson moved to send this to public hearing. Mr. Czar seconded.  
VOTE:  Unanimous 

 
ITEM #6: Review of non-residential permitted use table.  

Ms. Hauth said we made a handful of things Conditional Use Permits and those involved people or 
pets staying in a facility for an extended period of time. She wonders if we’re looking at that wrong 
because we ask these things to be Conditional Uses because we were concerned some of the land 
surrounding might not be conducive. That begs the question does that use belong in that zoning 
district.  
 
As it stands, if a business comes in and says we’re this and the Planning Department says you’re 
not, the applicant can appeal to the Board of Adjustment. 

 
The board agreed to place this on a future agenda. Ms. Eckert suggested the board determine 
whether members are to think of where a business does belong or think of restricting where a 
business doesn’t belong.  

 
ITEM #7:  Adjourn  
MOTION: Mr. Czar made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:47 p.m. Ms. Eckert seconded. 
VOTE:  Unanimous 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Margaret A. Hauth 
Secretary 
 



Planning Board Minutes 
October 20, 2016 

Page 1 of 5 
 

MINUTES 
JOINT PUBLIC HEARING 

HILLSBOROUGH TOWN BOARD and 
PLANNING BOARD 

Thursday, October 20, 2016 
7:00 PM, Town Barn 

 
PRESENT: Mayor Tom Stevens, and Commissioners Jenn Weaver, Brian Lowen, Kathleen Ferguson, and Mark 

Bell,  Planning Board Chair Dan Barker, Rick Brewer, James Czar, Lisa Frazier, Carolyn Helfrich, Janie 
Morris, Doug Peterson, Toby Vandemark, Jenn Sykes, Chris Wehrman 

STAFF: Planning Director Margaret Hauth, Town Attorney Bob Hornik 
 
ITEM #1: Call to order and confirmation of a quorum  

Mayor Stevens called the meeting to order at 7 p.m. and welcomed new planning board 
member Carolyn Helfrich.  

 
ITEM #2: Consideration of additions or changes to the agenda 

There were none. Mayor Stevens passed the gavel to Planning Board Chair Dan Barker. 
 
ITEM #3: Open Joint Public Hearing  

Chair Barker opened the public hearing. 
 

ITEM #4: Request from Vouthaus, LLC to Rezone 9.75 acres at 505 Eno Street from General Industrial to 
Adaptive Re-Use so the building can house a wider variety of uses that are not industrial (OC PIN 
9864-65-3492)  
Ms. Hauth reviewed this is the former Southern Season Warehouse, formerly on Flint Fabrics property 
and now on its own separate parcel. The Adaptive Re-Use zoning was created a few years ago to assist 
owners of buildings built for one purpose who now would like to house businesses of different purposes. 
The criteria for this zoning includes that the parcel has to be at least three acres, the building must be at 
least 10,000 SF, and the owner must desire at least three different uses in the building. This application 
meets the criteria. If the Town Board approves this rezoning, it permits everything on the list.  
 
Scott Jennings, who owns a home at Knight and Holt Streets, said he came to hear more about the plans. 
He expressed concern about drawing more people to an area that has some pedestrian-traffic concerns. 
He cited problems with pedestrians crossing Nash Street near Hillsborough BBQ but not at the 
crosswalk and concern about a new wooded trail that would could cause additional pedestrian-car 
conflict.  
 
Ms. Hauth explained that the town has plans to address the pedestrian traffic on Nash Street through a 
state project called the Congestion Mitigation & Air Quality (CMAQ) sidewalks project. That project 
should go out to bid soon and entails widening the sidewalks on the Hillsborough BBQ side of Nash 
Street, removing on-street parking, and creating a three-way stop at Nash and Eno Streets. There will be 
control on the parking lot side (either fence or landscaping) to encourage pedestrians to cross Nash 
Street at the crosswalks. As for parking in the mill village neighborhood, she said that if those three 
streets not already designed for no on-street parking, residents can request that. She added that the path 
is being constructed by the developers of the Bellevue Mill. 
 
Ms. Hauth summarized the process regarding this application. The boards can vote to close the public 
hearing this night. Then the Planning Board reviews the application in November and makes a 
recommendation. The Town Board considers approval at its December meeting.  
 



Planning Board Minutes 
October 20, 2016 

Page 2 of 5 
 

Ms. Hauth briefly reviewed the differences between the current list of permitted uses under current 
zoning and this new zoning; the General Industrial list allows industrial uses and specialty schools that 
need big buildings. It allows manufacturing and processing operations that might have an air quality or 
water quality impact. A concrete plant and a distribution warehouse are both permitted. The Adaptive 
Re-Use zoning allows some light industrial uses but it’s also a very broad district.  

MOTION: Mr. Peterson moved to close the public hearing. Commissioner Ferguson seconded. 
VOTE: Unanimous 

 
ITEM #5: Request from The Little School Development LLC to modify their approved Special Use Permit to 

create additional on-site parking and remove the enrollment limitation (OC PIN 9873-25-6187)  
Ms. Hauth reminded everyone that for this item, speakers need to be sworn in before they speak. Ms. 
Hauth was sworn in.  
 
She reviewed that The Little School had an enrollment cap established at 196 students. The school has 
exceeded the cap and Ms. Hauth noted that some of the management has changed at the school so the 
situation is more likely an inadvertent violation than a blatant one. Part of this application is to alleviate 
the nonconformity and bring the school back into compliance regarding the enrollment cap. The 
proposal to expand the parking isn’t so much to address a nonconformity as it is to address operations. 
The site is highly constrained in a very narrow part of the Waterstone Development. Adjoining 
properties are not in the city limits. The school is requesting to reduce the buffer to accommodate 
additional parking. The master plan required 100 feet. They are proposing having 75 feet. The fire 
marshal didn’t have concerns with the parking proposal.  
 
Tony Whitaker, a civil engineer with Civil Consultants representing The Little School, was sworn in. He 
introduced Jennifer Dock from The Little School.  
 
Mr. Whitaker acknowledged that on a daily basis, The Little School (TLS) experiences traffic 
congestion at morning drop off and afternoon pick up. That is normal for this type of facility. This 
property has an insufficient number of parking spaces. Cars stack up onto College Park Drive. It’s not 
particularly unsafe but it’s potentially unsafe.  
 
The school proposes to go from 62 to 92 parking spaces, but some people are parking in non-designated 
spaces now. Probably 20 of the 30 are new spaces. The school has already taken several measures to 
alleviate parking congestion, Mr. Whitaker said. It has incentivized teachers and staff to carpool and 
park at the nearby Durham Tech park and ride lot. It happens to some degree but not a great degree. 
Teachers arrive and depart in shifts. They’ve asked parents to pick up and drop off quickly. A staff 
person is designated in the afternoons to help communicate to those trying to park.  
 
Mr. Whitaker reviewed that the school is requesting several waivers but the one regarding excess 
parking is no longer needed. Ms. Hauth explained that at the last quarterly hearing, child care centers 
parking standard was changed and the application reflects that change. The other things are 
modifications to the Special Use Permit. One is to add more parking, to modify a buffer on eastern edge 
from 100 feet to 74 feet. This impacts neighboring property owner Albert Kittrel. They’ve met several 
times, Mr. Whitaker said. He was a great advocate after we suggested removing trees and then planting 
a double row of evergreens. His house is far from the property line and he has good screening. Mr. 
Whitaker said the school is also asking to remove the cap of 196 students because this facility is licensed 
by the state. The school is already maximized as far as building floor area and playground. To maintain 
a 5 star program, TLS will not be able to exceed the cap they currently have by the state and will always 
be regulated by the state.  
 
Mr. Whitaker said the capacity was reached about a year after opening. The current enrollment is 239. 
Mr. Peterson asked if it went from a 5-star to a 4-star facility, would it changed the number of students? 
Mr. Whitaker said not immediately but a higher number of students could be permitted under the 4-star 



Planning Board Minutes 
October 20, 2016 

Page 3 of 5 
 

rating. The licensing limit right now is around 296. Mr. Peterson said so if we lift the cap, it could go to 
296. Mr. Peterson wondered why the school doesn’t create a drive through drop-off/pick-up.  
 
Wendy Vavrousek, one of the school owners, was sworn in. She said the school has contemplated that 
and the difficulty is staffing. Also, last year they tried having parents pick up older children at the 
Durham Tech campus on early dismissal days, but that was inconvenient for parents who also needed to 
pick up a younger child. Mr. Peterson suggested identifying the peak hour of drop-off and only staffing 
a drive through drop-off then. Right now you’re having trouble at 239. What happens when its 250 and 
260 and 290, he asked? Ms. Vavrousek said based on our square footage we could have 294. But based 
on our model of 9 infants, 12 1-year-olds, 15 two-year-olds, we couldn’t have that many. Mr. Peterson 
asked what’s the maximum for this model. The answer was the school is full. There is a waiting list. 
Chair Barker asked what is the process to change that model. Chair Barker asked could you change 
tomorrow to allow one more child per classroom. Ms. Vavrousek said we haven’t done it in 10 years. 
That isn’t something to be expected from us at all. 
 
Commissioner Weaver said her two kids went to TLS and it’s hard to imagine dropping off tiny kids 
without parents walking them in. She asked Ms. Hauth if they one day decided to close and a new 
school opened up with a different standard that wanted to go to the 290, what could be done. Ms. Hauth 
said we apply our ordinance, 1 parking spot per employee and 1 spot for 8 students. Ms. Vandemark 
asked if they could make the new cap the current enrollment and Ms. Hauth confirmed. 
 
Ms. Sykes asked how the number of infants per classroom changed during the school year. Ms. 
Vavrousek answered the only fluctuation is they start out younger.  
 
Jessica Larsin, school director, was sworn in. Ms. Larsin said she has done enrollment for many years. 
We cannot put another child in another space. We have maximized the potential. There are sixteen 
classrooms, three infants, three one-year olds, three two-year old. She compared math with Ms. Sykes 
who had figured their cap under this model was 252. Ms. Larsin said there’s a classroom that can only 
have 6. The size of the classrooms contributes to the caps.  
 
Chair Barker asked about Wayne Pollard, another close neighbor. Ms. Hauth indicated she had 
discussed the plans with Mr. Pollard, but he had not come by the office to review them in detail and did 
not express concern. Jennifer Adams was sworn in. Ms. Adams said this parking is not expanding 
toward him. We stay away from his deer blind. Chair Barker said there are piles of toys marked TLS on 
different areas including at the traffic circle, a tent down at the creek bed. Mr. Brewer said does this 
have anything to do with the application. Chair Barker said it does if it’s indicative of how they conduct 
business. Chair Barker said there’s a pile of toys with your school name now down by the hospital. Ms. 
Adams said they were bringing chalk to the new Cates Creek Park and as soon as Ms. Hauth asked them 
to stop, they did. Ms. Adams said they value the transfer of children from parent to teacher. It’s a 
valuable few moments. We need parents to come in and be with us.  

MOTION: Commissioner Ferguson moved to close the public hearing on this item. Commissioner Weaver 
seconded. 
Chair Barker asked whether the public hearing needed to stay open for additional information regarding 
enrollment. Ms. Sykes said she’d concluded it was 243 under the current model and was satisfied.   

VOTE: Unanimous 
 
ITEM #6: Text Amendments to Unified Development Ordinance  

a. Amend Section 6.20, Stormwater, to match state minimum requirements and meet the mandate for local 
regulations to not be more stringent than the state.  

Ms. Hauth said the long and short of it is that these are state mandated. No option. Commissioner 
Ferguson asked can we say something like if the state removes those restrictions, we can revert back. 
Ms. Hauth answered we can go back through the process again.  

 



Planning Board Minutes 
October 20, 2016 

Page 4 of 5 
 

b. Amend Section 7.3, Nonconforming Characteristics of Use, to provide guidance on when a site is required 
to correct existing non-conforming characteristics.  

In answering a question, Ms. Hauth explained nonconforming characteristics are not usually based on 
use. We end up with tension between wanting development to conform to the ordinance and wanting 
existing buildings occupied and productive. A new business owner can potentially live with the existing 
conditions (maybe it doesn’t look the way we want it to). The question is, can we really issue that permit 
when it has these nonconforming characteristics. We’re trying to make it easier for staff to determine. 
The language we’re proposing here sets a higher threshold that the applicant must want to do something 
to the property of a certain size or value in order to be required to fix the other nonconformities. The 
Planning Board hasn’t had a lot of time to talk about it. She encouraged the Planning Board and Town 
Board to take this opportunity to talk about scenarios. Commissioner Ferguson suggested a 25 percent 
value threshold. Ms. Hauth said it could be one-quarter. She thinks someone on the board had suggested 
10 percent. Mr. Czar said the wrinkle is that it’s of assessed tax value. Commissioner Ferguson said 
she’s ok with that and that’s why she was thinking one-quarter and not 10 percent. Mr. Hornik said 
we’re lowering the threshold if we go from one-third to one-quarter….just making sure people 
understand that.  
 
Ms. Hauth reiterated the example of the barber shop on 70. Two loads of gravel for the parking and the 
new owner was ready to open. Commissioner Weaver said I’d like for things to look nice but I like for 
people to start small businesses and therefore likes the one-third threshold. Or one-quarter. 
Commissioner Ferguson said I agree I want people to do stuff. It’s always easier to be more strict at 
first. We want to see what’s coming forth. It would be easier to loosen up. There is that line of what’s 
character versus what’s desirable.  
 
Mr. Peterson said we went to tax value which is a tangible number to get. And the Planning Board went 
with one-third. Commissioner Bell said there are hidden costs to opening a business that you would 
never see. Mr. Czar said that just speaks to the arbitrary nature of any certain number. Ms. Vandemark 
asked why it includes interior. Ms. Hauth said some businesses do a lot more interior. Dental practices 
have a high cost of internal upfit. Probably restaurants and doctor’s offices have similar interior costs. 
Ms. Vandemark said but nonconforming characteristics pertains to the outside. If they are fixing up the 
inside, why would that affect the calculation for changing the outside? Ms. Hauth answered we’ve 
adopted an ordinance that says this is how we want it. Chair Barker said the connection is the interior is 
tied to what their total budget is. Mr. Brewer asked if bringing into compliance is cost prohibitive for a 
new business owner, what’s their recourse. Ms. Hauth said an appeal to the Board of Adjustment, but 
generally they just go find another site. 

 
c. Amend Section 7.5.2.1 to clarify that non-conforming residential lots are buildable.  

Ms. Hauth explained if you own two properties side by side and are nonconforming for size, we order 
you to combine to get a conforming lot. But the ordinance has never said if you have two lots, put them 
together and still have a nonconforming lot, you can build anyway. This usually applies to residential. 
The division has to comply with the ordinance. 

 
d. Amend Section 3.8.5.1.a to modify cultural resource documentation requirement for special use permit 

applicants.  
Ms. Hauth explained when someone submits a SUP, they have to talk about cultural resources. We have 
learned from the state office that if it’s on the list, phase 1 has already been done so there is no need to 
require that. The amendment is to change the text to say if phase 1 has been done, you have to document 
how to protect the resource.  

 
e. Amend Section 3.13.3.d to make reference to the traffic impact study requirements in the street standards 

document.  
 



Planning Board Minutes 
October 20, 2016 

Page 5 of 5 
 

Commissioner Ferguson asked to eliminate acronyms from the town’s written documents. She thinks 
that would help citizens digest the information and it’s important for transparency. Commissioner Bell 
said he understands but thinks it would need to be organization wide and pertain to the Website, too. Ms. 
Sykes suggested repeating the spelled out form at the start of each new section.  
 
Ms. Hauth asked Mr. Hornik if an amendment to remove all acronyms form the ordinance would count 
as scrivener’s error. Mr. Hornik indicated it would, since it wouldn’t be changing the meaning. He 
added that at this level of detail, it’s a professional looking at document. It’s the lingo. A traffic engineer 
knows what TIA is. Commissioner Ferguson said let’s keep it in mind and be watchful. Members 
suggested just fixing as we go along.  

 
f. Delete reference to the Design Standards manual in Section 6.2 and list this section as “reserved for future 

codification”  
There was no discussion. 

 
g. Amend Section 6.11.7.3 to remove the sentence requiring site lighting to be extinguished when a business 

is closed.  
Ms. Hauth explained Duke Power only issues contracts for site lighting that is on all night. There are no 
timers. The ordinance sets a standard that is impossible to meet. We would have fewer waiver requests 
until such time as Duke changes their processes. Chair Barker said it’s a shame but reality.  

 
MOTION: Commissioner Lowen moved to close the public hearing on the text amendments. Commissioner 

Ferguson seconded. 
VOTE: Unanimous 

 
ITEM #7: Adjourn  
MOTION: Commissioner Lowen moved to adjourn at 8:35 p.m. Mr. Brewer seconded. 
VOTE: Unanimous  
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Margaret A. Hauth 
Secretary  



 
 

 Planning Board Meeting Schedule — 2017 

 

All meetings start at 7 p.m. and are in the Town Barn, located at 101 E. Orange St. on the Town Hall 
Campus, unless otherwise noted. Times, dates and locations are subject to change. 

January 19, 2017 Joint public hearing with town board 

February 16, 2017 Regular meeting 

March 16, 2017 Regular meeting 

April 20, 2017 Joint public hearing with town board 

May 18, 2017 Regular meeting 

June 15, 2017 Regular meeting 

July 20, 2017 Joint public hearing with town board 

August 17, 2017 Regular meeting 

September 21, 2017 Regular meeting 

October 19, 2017 Joint public hearing with town board 

November 16, 2017 Regular meeting 

December 21, 2017 Regular meeting 

 

 



  

Staff Report 
Item 5 – Vouthaus rezoning 

1

November 2016 Planning Board meeting 
Item Cover Sheet/Staff Report 

 
          Agenda Item #: 5  
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
1 –Application 
2 – Map 
3 – Adaptive Re-Use district intent and use list 

 
GENERAL INFORMATION: 
 
Request: Rezone 9.75 acres from General Industrial to Adaptive Re-Use 
 
Purpose:   redevelopment of existing building to mixed use 
  
Ordinance criteria: 

To qualify for rezoning to a redevelopment district, the area to be rezoned must meet the 
following criteria: 
a) The site is improved at the time the rezoning is sought with a building of at least 

10,000 sf originally constructed for retail, institutional or industrial purposes. 
b) The parcel has access to at least one public street classified as a collector or greater 
c) The owner intends to locate two or more uses from the permitted use list in the 

structure. 
d) The parcel consists of at least 3 acres of land.   

 
Background: 
The applicant property is the “modern” warehouse most recently occupied by A Southern Season 
as their distribution and gift basket assembly site. The applicant is in the process of occupying 
the property to house their office and warehouse operations. They have additional building space 
that they would like to put to other uses not permitted in General Industrial and have requested 
the Adaptive Re-Use district. 
 
Public Hearing 
The applicant did not appear at the public hearing. A neighbor had questions that were not 
directly related to the applicant’s request. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

Staff Report 
Item 5 – Vouthaus rezoning 

2

 
 
 
 
Zoning Map: 

     

Purple – General Industrial 
Aqua – Adaptive ReUse 
Gold – R-10 
Yellow – R-15 
Pink – Central Commercial 
Cream/hatch – R-20/historic 
Blue – Office Institutional

 
Future Land Use Plan: 

 

Gray – Urban Neighborhood 
Brown – Attached residential 
Pink – Neighborhood Mixed Use 
Green – protected open space 
 
 
 
 

 
Neighborhood Mixed Use. These areas provide opportunities for goods and services that residents of the 
district and surrounding neighborhoods need on a daily basis.  Lots with this designation will front on an 
arterial or collector street and back up to single family neighborhoods.  Buildings and uses will generally 



  

Staff Report 
Item 5 – Vouthaus rezoning 

3

be in scale with the surrounding neighborhoods and be walkable as well as providing vehicular access.  
Sites may be single use or, mixed use, may incorporate residential uses or may be solely residential at a 
higher density than the adjacent neighborhood. Zoning Districts:  Adaptive Re-Use; R-10; Multi-family; 
Neighborhood Business; Neighborhood Business Special Use; Central Commercial; Central 
Commercial Special Use; Multi-Family Special Use; Residential Special Use 













 



Hillsborough Zoning District intent & uses list 
Oct, 2016 

 

ADAPTIVE RE‐USE DISTRICT  (ARU) The purpose of the redevelopment district is to accommodate 
proposals to redevelop existing developed and improved sites for which the owner/developer proposes  a  
mixture of small‐scale retail, residential, and light industrial uses (or a combination of such uses) to occupy 
structures originally constructed for other purposes.   

 
By‐right:  
Artisan Studio 
Bar  
Botanical Garden & Arboretum 
Child Day Care 
Church, Place of worship 
Dwelling:  Attached  
Event Center 
Flex Space 
Food Preparation Business 
Gallery/Museum 
Health Care Facility 
Health/Fitness Club 
Hotels & Motels  
Mail Order Houses 
Manufacturing Complex 
Meeting Facility 
Office operations 
Offices and professional services  
Outlet sales 
Park and Ride Facility 
Performance Facility 
Personal service business 
Personal Vehicle Sales 
 

 
Postal and Parcel Delivery Services 
Public Safety Services 
Recreational Facilities  
Recycling Materials Collections Center 
Research Facility 
Restaurant  
Retail sales/rentals of goods  
School: Art & Music 
School: Dance, Martial Arts 
School: Elementary, Middle & Secondary 
School: Higher Education 
School: Vocational 
Storage & Warehousing: Inside building, 
excluding explosives & hazardous wastes 
Wholesale sales, indoor 
 
Conditional Use Permit: 
Telecommunication Tower, less than 200’ 
tall 
 
Special Use Permit: 
Public Utilities 
Telecommunication Tower, 200’ or taller 
Transmission Lines

 
 



  

Staff Report 
Item 6 – Little School SUP modification 

1

November 2016 Planning Board meeting 
Item Cover Sheet/Staff Report 

 
          Agenda Item #: 6  
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
1 –Application 
2 – Waiver list 
3 – neighbor email 
4 - Plan set 

 
GENERAL INFORMATION: 
 
Request: Modify Special Use Permit for the Little School – involves removing 

enrollment cap, expanding parking, and granting of new waivers  
 
Purpose:   Correct zoning violation caused by current enrollment exceeding the cap set 

with initial approval and address parking congestion 
  
Background: 
 
In October 2008, the town board granted the original Special Use Permit for the Little School to 
develop. That approval included an enrollment cap of 196 “students”. Modifications were 
approved by the town board in March 2009 before the site got under construction. The town 
preferred that the site have circular access through their parking lot which would have required 
the development of a platted right of way adjacent to the north side of the site. The applicants 
asked to not make this connection during their initial approval for fear of cut through and higher 
speed traffic in their parking area. The town agreed and the connection was not required. The 
school no longer owns this platted right of way. The proposed layout would accommodate a 
connection if they were ever given permission to connect. 
 
The site has the required number of parking spaces shown on the approved special use permit 
plans, which met the requirements in the Zoning Ordinance. The requirement was actually 
reduced when the UDO was adopted in 2011, but it has recently be amended to establish a 
standard based on employees and students.  
 
The School acknowledges that it requires more parking that the ordinance would mandate as 
many of their parents participate in a portion of their child’s day at the center and the center has a 
very low student/teacher ratio, generating more parking demand for staff. 
 
The site is highly constrained with environmental features. The requested waivers are all 
necessary to create additional on-site spaces and address congestion and parking concerns on the 
property. A memo from the impacted neighbor is attached. It is not meant to replace any 
testimony given at public hearing, just to provide clarification that he is aware of the application. 









1

Margaret Hauth

From: ak <atkitt@earthlink.net>
Sent: Friday, September 09, 2016 9:20 AM
To: Margaret Hauth
Subject: Re: Little School request

 
Margaret Hauth 
 
I have reviewed the Special Use Permit narrative and actual plans completed by Civil Consultants.   I would have 
preferred no modification to the  buffer between my property and The Little School.  After talking with the owners of The 
Little School and on-site discussions with Civil Consultants,  the final plans address the concerns I have expressed as The 
Little School tries to improve their parking.  If there are changes to the plans I reviewed in mid August, please inform me.
 
 
Albert Kittrell 

-----Original Message-----  
From: Margaret Hauth  
Sent: Aug 29, 2016 3:01 PM  
To: "atkitt@earthlink.net"  
Subject: Little School request  
 
 
Albert, 
Attached is the application and drawings Tony Whitaker submitted on behalf of the Little School. 
The Town Board will discuss these at their meeting on September 12. That meeting will be in the Town Barn on 
East Corbin Street at 7 pm.  
The Town Board will review the request and determine whether a public hearing is needed for this modification. 
If a hearing is called it would take place in October and you would receive a written notice. 
  
Margaret A. Hauth, AICP 
Planning Director/Assistant Town Manager 
P.O.Box 429 
101 E Orange Street 
Hillsborough, NC  27278 
919.732.1270 ext 86 
919.644-2390 
www.hillsboroughnc.gov  
  
Pursuant to NCGS Chapter 132, Public Records, this electronic mail message and any attachments hereto, as well as any electronic mail message(s) that may be sent in 
response to it *may* be considered public record and as such are subject to request and review by anyone at anytime. 
  















Item 7 – text amendments  

November 2016 Planning Board meeting 
Item Cover Sheet/Staff Report 

          Agenda Item #: 7  
 
ATTACHMENTS: Marked up section 6.20 - Stormwater 

 
 
6A: Stormwater 

The following pages show the needed amendments to our stormwater provisions to meet 
the state enabling legislation. The state recently ruled that town cannot be more restrictive than 
the state when regulating water quality. The state did not amend their regulations to be less 
restrictive, but is requiring the town to not be more restrictive. 
 
Action Requested: Consider the amendments shown on the attached section. Strikethrough text 
is proposed to be removed. Red text is proposed to be added. 
 
6B:  Correcting non-conforming characteristics 

The UDO has two different types of standards that property owners must meet when they 
look to develop or occupy a site. For the purposes of this discussion, I’d like to focus the 
discussion on occupying a site that is already developed to some degree. 

Type 1 - There are standards in Section 5 that are unique to the use. For example, if I 
want to operate a junkyard, I cannot use outdoor equipment between 7 PM and 7 AM to 
limit noise complaints. 

 
Type 2 - Then there are standards that apply more evenly across all parcels in a zoning 
district (and to some degree all parcels developed non-residentially) and are in Section 6 
of the UDO. For example, parking lots and landscaping and lighting requirements. 

 
Section 7 of the UDO allows that sites with non-conforming characteristics (of either 

type) should be corrected when the site comes in for redevelopment. It further allows some 
discretion to determine if compliance is not “reasonably possible,” in which case compliance is 
not required. This creates some flexibility, but does not specifically address all circumstances 
because the trigger for compliance forgiveness is “site plan review”. 

Say there is an existing commercial building which was previously used as a retail store 
and someone wants to convert it to a barber shop.  This would not require a zoning change. It’s 
highly likely that a tenant or owner could occupy the building without the need for an addition, 
so no site plan review either. That then begs the question of whether the change of use permit to 
go from retail to a personal service business requires the site to come into full compliance with 
requirements in Section 6. 
 
Two examples: 
There is a house on Cornelius Street just east of the convenience store at the Faucette Mill Road 
intersection. The house was zoned commercial many years ago, but never redevelopment. A few 
years ago it became a barber shop. The applicant only wanted to install additional gravel in front 
of the building to accommodate his clientele. We have had a long standing debate in the office as 
to whether this site is in violation of the ordinance. 



Item 7 – text amendments  

 
The site on West Corbin Street occupied by Music Makers Relief foundation. The owners 
inquired about building a small addition. We realized that the building was in the required 
buffers sine the properties across both streets are residentially zoned. The site has been lightly 
commercial used for years without meeting the ordinance requirements for buffers. The owner 
decided to not pursue the addition because it seemed the buffer would be required. 
 
Action Requested: Consider the amendment - red text is proposed to be added. 
The intent is to propose text amendments that would allow existing buildings to be used without 
addressing all the lingering site non-conformities, but still set a reasonable threshold for bringing 
a site into compliance. This is written to require that all 7 criteria have to be met in hopes of 
limiting the applicability of this language to the truly small projects. This is a new section to be 
added and subsequent sections will be renumbered. 
 
7.3.3 An applicant seeking a Zoning Compliance Permit for a change of use will not be 

required to correct identified non-conforming characteristics when all of the following 
are met: 
1) The non-conformities are related to non-compliance with provisions of Section 6 

(excluding section 6.20). 
2) The use is permitted by right in the district and does not require a modification to a 

Conditional Use or Special Use Permit to occupy the location in question. 
3) The applicant either does not need a site plan or meets the site plan threshold for 

Planning Director only review. 
4) The non-conforming characteristics are not being expanded or made more non-

conforming in any way 
5) No new non-conformity is being established 
6) The site complies with requirements in Section 5.2 for the requested use (if 

applicable) 
7) The renovation proposed by the applicant to occupy the building (including interior 

upfit) does not exceed one-third of the existing structure’s value listed for tax 
purposes. 

 
 
6C.  Non-conforming lots 

The ordinance has always required adjoin non-conforming lots in single ownership to be 
combined in an effort to eliminate non-conformities. The combination does not always yield a 
conforming lot. Adding the sentence in italics codifies a long standing practice. 
 
Action Requested: Consider the amendment - red text is proposed to be added. 
 
7.5.2.1 Where two (2) or more undeveloped nonconforming lots in single ownership adjoin and 
have continuous road frontage, such lots shall be combined to create less nonconforming lots 
with respect to minimum lot size, road frontage, and setback requirements. If the resultant lot is 
still non-conforming, it may be developed as if it was a non-conforming lot of record. 
 
 



Item 7 – text amendments  

6D.  Cultural Resource information for SUP 
Section 3.8.5.1.a requires applicants to consult with the State Historic Preservation Office 

to see if they have record of potential archeological resources in the vicinity of their project & in 
so, the applicant then prepares a Phase 1 evaluation.  Based on my discussion with SHPO staff, 
Phase 1 evaluations are the source of the SHPO’s resource list, so our requirements seems to 
require an applicant to redo work that has already been done. 
 
Action Requested: Consider the amendment. Strikethrough text is proposed to be removed. Red 
text is proposed to be added. 
 
3.8.5.1.a Applicants shall consult with the State Department of Cultural Resources to 
determine if there are known archeological resources in the vicinity of their site.  If resources are 
expected based on the known database, applicants shall complete a Phase 1 analysis as part of 
their SUP submittal indicate how those resources will be protected or documented if protections 
is not practicable as part of their development plan. 
 
 
6E.  Traffic Impact Study reference 

TIAs are required in a roundabout sort of way for Special use Permits and Conditional 
Use permits in that the ordinance allows the planning director to establish the application 
requirements and forms. The same if true for site plans (which are staff reviewed), but there is a 
reference in the approval standards to what the outcome of the TIA has to be if one is required.  
It is in that location that I want to add a reference to the street standards document where we 
established thresholds for the preparation of TIAs based on expected traffic. 
 
Action Requested: Consider the amendment - red text is proposed to be added. 
 
3.13.3.d A traffic impact analysis (TIA), if required by Section 3.1 of the Street Design 
Standards, demonstrates that the proposed site development will not cause a reduction in the 
Level of Service (LOS) at any intersection studied in the TIA, or that any measurable reduction 
in LOS has been or will be mitigated by site plan design features. 
 
 
6F.  Design manual reference 

When we wrote the UDO, we were anticipating a design standards manual that has not 
become necessary as the design criteria were written into the ordinance. This manual is 
referenced in Section 6.2. Rather than delete this section (and have to renumber & check lots of 
cross references throughout the ordinance), I’d like to designate this section as “reserved for 
future codification” and delete reference to the design manual.  The only other ordinance 
references to the design manual are in the description of the overlay districts that the manual was 
meant to apply to. 
 
Action Requested: Consider the amendment - Strikethrough text is proposed to be removed. Red 
text is proposed to be added. 
 

6.2  DESIGN	STANDARDS	MANUAL		Reserved	for	future	codification	
 



Item 7 – text amendments  

The Town of Hillsborough’s Design Manual provides design standards additional to the 
requirements of this Ordinance and tailored specific to overlay districts.  This Manual is 
intended to supplement, and not as a substitute for, this Ordinance. 

 
 
6G.  Lighting 

In writing the UDO we thought this would be a wise requirement to help with dark sky 
interests and preventing unnecessary electrical use. However, we have learned that nearly every 
property owner (including the town and county) contract with Duke Energy for parking lot 
lighting and do not own the poles. Duke only has a dusk-til-dawn option for lighting contracts. 
Having this requirement in the ordinance presents an unattainable requirement.  
 
Action Requested: Consider the amendment - Strikethrough text is proposed to be removed. 
 
6.11.7 CONTROL OF NUISANCE AND DISABLING GLARE 
6.11.7.3 Non‐security lighting shall be extinguished when the operation is closed or not in 
use. In reviewing lighting plans, the permit issuing authority may consider the impact of lighting 
on neighboring properties based on stated hours of operation, topographical differences across 
sites, and other considerations. 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐72 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

6.20.15 MAINTENANCE EASEMENT 
 

Every engineered stormwater control installed pursuant to this ordinance shall be made 
accessible for adequate maintenance and repair by a maintenance easement. The easement 
shall be recorded and its terms shall specify who may make use of the easement and for what 
purposes. 
 

 

6.20.16  IMPERVIOUS SURFACE 
 

6.20.16.1 Applicability 
 

Impervious surface limitations apply in all non‐residential zoning districts. 
 

6.20.16.2 Standards and Requirements 

6.20.16.2.a In GI, LI, OI, and HIC districts, a maximum of seventy (70) percent of the gross lot 
area can be covered with impervious surfaces, including paving and buildings. 

6.20.16.2.b In GC districts, a maximum of sixty (60) percent of the gross lot area can be 
covered with impervious surfaces, including paving and buildings. 

6.20.16.2.c In LO, BP, and all special use districts, the presumptive impervious surface limit is 

        50 percent of the gross lot area 

6.20.16.2.d Refer to Section 4.5, Other Zoning Districts, for impervious surface limits in the 
protected watershed districts. 

 

6.20.17 RIPARIAN BUFFERS 
 

6.20.17.1 Purpose and Intent 
 

In order to minimize sedimentation and pollution of surface waters within the planning 
jurisdiction, riparian buffers shall be provided along all surface waters identified in 
Section 6.20.17.3, Applicability. Undisturbed natural areas along surface waters act as a 
filter for sedimentation control and as a stabilizing agent for the banks of surface 
waters. In addition, these areas filter storm water run‐off which may carry significant 
amounts of bacteria, excess nutrients and heavy metals into surface waters.  The buffer 
areas, along with controls on impervious surfaces, provide a good measure of water 
quality protection for the Eno River. 

 

The Neuse River Basin Nutrient Sensitive Waters Management Strategy riparian buffer 
protection rules (Neuse Rules) of 15A NCAC 028 .0233 and .0241, apply to all lands 
within the Town of Hillsborough’s planning jurisdiction. Wherever standards of the 
Neuse Rules and the standards listed in this ordinance differ, the more restrictive 
provisions shall apply. 

 

6.20.17.2 Delegated Authority 
 

The North Carolina Environmental Management Commission has jurisdiction to the 
exclusion of the Planning Director or designee to implement the requirements of the 
State’s program for the following types of activities: 

(a) Activities undertaken by the State; 
(b) Activities undertaken by the United States; 
(c) Activities undertaken by multiple jurisdictions; 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐73 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

(d) Activities undertaken by local units of government; and 
(e) Forestry Operations 

 

6.20.17.3 Applicability 
 

A riparian buffer shall be established directly adjacent to surface waters (i.e. 
intermittent streams, perennial streams, lakes and ponds) identified by any of the 
following means: 

 

(a) Surface water approximately shown on the most recent version of the 1:24,000 
scale (7.5 minute) quadrangle maps prepared by USGS; as solid blue or purple lines 
or as broken blue or purple lines on the most recent version of USGS Quadrangle 
maps; 

 

(b) Surface water approximately shown in the most recent published version of the 
Orange County Soil Survey prepared by the NRCS. 

or 

(c) A surface water identified in a field determination made by staff trained in surface 
water identification through the North Carolina Division of Water Quality (NCDWQ). 
Disputes pertaining to water feature decisions by staff shall be filed directly to the 
Director of NCDWQ. 

 

6.20.17.4 Exemption Based upon an On‐site Determination 
 

When a landowner or other affected party including the Division believes that the maps 
inaccurately depict surface waters, they may request an On‐site determination 
conducted by staff who has successfully completed the Division’s Surface Water 
Identification Training Certification course, its successor, or other equivalent training 
curriculum approved by the Division. Any disputes over on‐site determinations shall be 
referred to the Director of the Division of Water Resources in writing. A determination 
of the Director of the Division of Water Resources as to the accuracy or application of 
the maps is subject to review as provided in articles 3 and 4 of G.S. 150B. Surface 
waters that appear on the maps shall not be subject to this Rule is a site evaluation 
revels any of the following cases: 

(a) Man‐made ponds and lakes that are not part of a natural drainage way that is classified 
in accordance with 15A NCAC 02B .0110, including ponds and lakes created for animal 
watering, irrigation, or other agricultural uses. A pond or lake is part of a natural 
drainage way when it is fed by an intermittent or perennial stream or when it has a 
direct discharge point to an intermittent or perennial stream. 

(b) Ephemeral streams. 

(c) The absence on the ground of a corresponding intermittent or perennial stream, lake, 
reservoir, or pond. 

(d) Ditches or other man‐made water conveyances, other than modified natural streams. 
 
 

6.20.17.5 Exemption when Existing Uses are Present and Ongoing 

Section 6.20.17, Riparian Buffers does not apply to portions of the riparian buffer where 
a use is considered existing and ongoing according in accordance with 15A NCAC 028 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐74 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

.0233 (3). A use is considered existing if it was present within the riparian buffer as of 
July 22, 1997. Existing uses shall include, but not be limited to, agriculture, buildings, 
industrial facilities, commercial areas, transportation facilities, maintained lawns, utility 
lines and on‐site sanitary sewage systems. Only the portion of the riparian buffer that 
contains the footprint of the existing use is exempt from this Rule. 

 
 

6.20.17.6 Calculations for Width and Zones of Riparian Buffers 
 

The width of the buffer along the Eno River shall be the floodway as shown on the 
Floodway Map from the National Flood Insurance Program, plus fifty (50) feet. 
However, in no case, shall the riparian buffer exceed the outer line of the floodplain 
as shown on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) of the National Flood Insurance 
Program. For streams within the PW and PWCA zoning districts (see Section 4.5, 
Other Zoning Districts), the width of the stream is calculated as outlined in Section 
4.5.3.8.d, Calculating Width of Riparian Buffer. 

 
 

A riparian buffer of fifty (50) feet in width measured from the most landward limit of 
the top of bank, normal water level or rooted herbaceous vegetation of surface waters 
identified in Section 6.20.17.3, Applicability is required. The protected riparian buffer 
shall consist of two have two zones as follows: 

(a) Zone 1 shall consist of a vegetated area that is undisturbed except for activities and 
uses provided for in Section 6.20.17.7, Permitted Uses within Riparian Buffers. The 
location of Zone 1 shall be as follows: 

(i) For intermittent and perennial streams, Zone 1 shall begin at the most landward 
limit of the top of bank or the rooted herbaceous vegetation and extend 
landward a distance of 30 feet on all sides of the surface water, measured 
horizontally on a line perpendicular to the surface water. 

(ii) For ponds, lakes and reservoirs located within a natural drainage way, Zone 1 
shall begin at the most landward limit of the normal water level or the rooted 
herbaceous vegetation and extend landward a distance of 30 feet, measured 
horizontally on a line perpendicular to the surface water.  

(b) Zone 2 shall consist of a stable, vegetated area that is undisturbed except for 
except for activities and uses provided for in Section 6.20.17.7, Permitted Uses 
within Riparian Buffers. Grading and revegetating Zone 2 is allowed provided that 
the health of the vegetation in Zone 1 is not compromised. Zone 2 shall begin at 
the outer edge of Zone 1 and extend landward 20 feet as measured horizontally on 
a line perpendicular to the surface water. 

 

 
 

6.20.17.7 Permitted Uses Within Riparian Buffers 
 

It is the intent of this section to restrict the use of land adjacent to streams, ponds, 
lakes and reservoirs in order to reduce sedimentation and pollution. The following 
uses are permitted within a designated riparian buffer. All other land uses are 
prohibited. Requirements of each category are listed at the end of the table. 
 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐75 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

 

Table 6.20.17.7 Permitted Uses within Riparian Buffer 

Riparian Buffer Use Exempt 
Upon Authorization 

Allowable 
Allowable 

w/Mitigation 

Fe
n

ce
s Fences provided that disturbance is minimized and 

installation does not result in the removal of forest 
vegetation 

X   

M
in

in
g 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

Mining activities that are covered by the Mining Act 
provided that new riparian buffers that meet the 
requirements of Sections 6.20.17.6 and 6.20.17.9 are 
established adjacent to the relocated channels 

 X  

Mining activities that are not covered by the Mining Act 
OR where new riparian buffers that DO NOT meet the 
requirements of Sections 6.20.17.6 and 6.20.17.9 are 
established adjacent to the relocated channels 

  X 

Wastewater or mining dewatering wells with approved 
NPDES permit 

X   

R
ec

re
at

io
n

 &
 S

ci
en

ti
fi

c 
St

u
d

y Playground equipment on single family lots provided that 
installation and use does not result in removal of 
vegetation 

X   

Playground equipment installed on lands other than 
single-family lots or that requires removal of vegetation 

 X  

Greenway/hiking trails  X  

Scientific studies and stream gauging X   

Archaeological Activities X   

Historic preservation X   

R
es

to
ra

ti
o

n
 

Stream restoration X   

Streambank stabilization  X  

Wetland restoration X   

Removal of previous fill or debris provided that diffuse 
flow is maintained and any vegetation removed is 
restored 

X   

Se
d

im
en

t 

&
 E

ro
si

o
n

 
C

o
n

tr
o

l Temporary sediment and erosion control devices in Zone 2 
only provided that the vegetation in Zone 1 is not 
compromised and that discharge is released as diffuse 
flow in accordance Section 6.20.17.9. 

X   



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐76 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

Table 6.20.17.7 Permitted Uses within Riparian Buffer 

Riparian Buffer Use Exempt 
Upon Authorization 

Allowable 
Allowable 

w/Mitigation 

Temporary sediment and erosion control devices in Zones 
1 and 2 to control impacts associated with uses approved 
by the Town of Hillsborough or that have received a 
variance provided that sediment and erosion control for 
upland areas is addressed to the maximum extent 
practical outside the buffer 

 X  

In-stream temporary erosion and sediment control 
measures for work within a stream channel 

X   

St
o

rm
w

at
er

 M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Existing drainage ditches, roadside ditches, and 
stormwater outfalls provided that they are managed to 
minimize the sediment, nutrients and other pollution that 
convey to waterbodies 

X   

New drainage ditches, roadside ditches and stormwater 
outfalls provided that a stormwater management facility is 
installed to control nitrogen and attenuate flow before the 
conveyance discharges through the riparian buffer 

 X  

New stormwater control measures (SCMs) provided that a 
riparian buffer that meets the requirements of Section 
6.20.17.6 is established adjacent to the pond 

 X  

New SCMs where a riparian buffer that meets the 
requirements of Section 6.20.17.6 is NOT established 
adjacent to the pond 

  X 

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 

Airport facilities that impact equal to or less than 150 
linear feet or one-third of an acre of riparian buffer  

 X  

Airport facilities that impact greater than 150 linear feet 
or one-third of an acre of riparian buffer 

  X 

Bridges  X  

Driveway crossings on single family residential lots that 
disturb equal to or less than 25 linear feet or 2, 500 square 
feet of riparian buffer 

X   

Driveway crossings on single family residential lots that 
disturb greater than 25 linear feet or 2,500 square feet of 
riparian buffer 

 X  

Driveway crossings in a subdivision that cumulatively 
disturb equal to or less than 150 linear feet or one -third 
of an acre of riparian buffer 

 X  

Driveway crossings in a subdivision that cumulatively 
disturb greater than 150 linear feet or one -third of an 
acre of riparian buffer 

  X 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐77 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

Table 6.20.17.7 Permitted Uses within Riparian Buffer 

Riparian Buffer Use Exempt 
Upon Authorization 

Allowable 
Allowable 

w/Mitigation 

Railroad impacts other than crossings of streams and 
other surface waters subject to this section 

  X 

Railroad crossings that impact equal to or less than 40 
linear feet of riparian buffer 

X   

Railroad crossings that impact greater than 40 linear feet 
but equal to or less than 150 linear feet or one-third of an 
acre of riparian buffer  

 X  

Railroad crossings that impact greater than 150 linear feet 
or one-third of an acre of riparian buffer 

  X 

Road and street impacts other than crossings of streams 
and other surface waters subject to this section 

  X 

Road and street crossings that impact equal to or less than 
40 linear feet of riparian buffer 

X   

Road and street crossings that impact greater than 40 
linear feet but equal to or less than 150 linear feet or one-
third of an acre of riparian buffer 

 X  

Road and street crossings that impact greater than 150 
linear feet or one-third of an acre of riparian buffer 

  X 

Temporary roads that disturb less than or equal to 2,500 
square feet provided that vegetation is restored within six 
months of initial disturbance 

X   

Temporary roads that disturb greater than 2,500 square 
feet provided that vegetation is restored within six 
months of initial disturbance 

 X  

Temporary roads used for bridge construction or 
replacement provided that restoration activities, such as 
soil stabilization and revegetation, are conducted 
immediately after construction 

 X  

U
ti

lit
ie

s*
 

(s
e

e 
n

o
te

s 
at

 e
n

d
 o

f 
ta

b
le

) Non-electric utility line impacts other than perpendicular 
crossings in Zone 2 only 

 X  

Non-electric utility line impacts other than perpendicular 
crossings in Zone 1 

  X 

Non-electric utility line perpendicular crossings that 
disturb equal to or less than 40 linear feet of riparian 
buffer with a maintenance corridor equal to or less than 
10 feet in width 

X   



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐78 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

Table 6.20.17.7 Permitted Uses within Riparian Buffer 

Riparian Buffer Use Exempt 
Upon Authorization 

Allowable 
Allowable 

w/Mitigation 

Non-electric utility line perpendicular crossings that 
disturb greater than 40 linear feet of riparian buffer with a 
maintenance corridor greater than 10 feet in width 

 X  

Non-electric utility line perpendicular crossings that 
disturb greater than 40 linear feet but equal to or less 
than 150 linear feet of riparian buffer with a maintenance 
corridor equal to or less than 10 feet in width 

 X  

Non-electric utility line perpendicular crossings that 
disturb greater than 40 linear feet but equal to or less 
than 150 linear feet of riparian buffer with a maintenance 
corridor greater than 10 feet in width 

  X 

Non-electric utility line perpendicular crossings that 
disturb greater than 150 linear feet of riparian buffer 

  X 

Overhead electric utility line impacts other than 
perpendicular crossings in Zone 2 only 

X   

Overhead electric utility line impacts other than 
perpendicular crossings in Zone 1 

X   

Overhead electric utility line perpendicular crossings that 
disturb equal to or less than 150 linear feet of riparian 
buffer 

X   

Overhead electric utility line perpendicular crossings that 
disturb greater than 150 linear feet of riparian buffer 

 X  

Underground electric utility line impacts other than 
perpendicular crossings in Zone 2 

X   

Underground electric utility line impacts other than 
perpendicular crossings in Zone 1 

X   

Underground electric utility line perpendicular crossings of 
streams and other surface waters that disturb less than or 
equal to 40 linear feet of riparian buffer 

X   

Underground electric utility line perpendicular crossings of 
streams and other surface waters that disturb greater 
than 40 linear feet of riparian buffer 

 X  

V
eg

et
at

io
n

 

M
an

ag
em

en
t Emergency fire control measures provided that 

topography is restored 
X   

Grading and revegetation in Zone 2 only provided that 
diffuse flow and the health of existing vegetation in Zone 1 
is not compromised and disturbed areas area stabilized 

X   



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐79 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

Table 6.20.17.7 Permitted Uses within Riparian Buffer 

Riparian Buffer Use Exempt 
Upon Authorization 

Allowable 
Allowable 

w/Mitigation 

One-time fertilizer application to establish replanted 
vegetation 

X   

Periodic mowing and harvesting of plant products in Zone 
2 only 

X   

Planting vegetation to enhance the riparian buffer X   

Pruning forest vegetation provided that the health and 
function of the forest vegetation is not compromised 

X   

Removal of individual trees which are in danger of causing 
damage to dwellings, other structures or human life 

X   

Removal of poison ivy X   

Removal of understory nuisance vegetation as defined in: 
Smith, Cherri L. 1998. Exotic Plant Guidelines. Department 
of Environment and Natural Resources. Division of Parks 
and Recreation. Raleigh, NC. Guideline #30 

X   

W
at

er
 R

es
o

u
rc

es
 

Dam Maintenance Activities X   

New ponds constructed specifically for agricultural use as 
defined in G.S. 106-581.1 do not require a protected 
riparian buffer unless the pond is changed to a non-
agricultural use 

X   

New ponds provided that requirements of Section 
6.20.17.9, diffuse flow, are met and a riparian buffer that 
meets the requirements of Section 6.20.17.6 is established 
adjacent to the pond. 

 X  

New ponds provided that requirements of Section 
6.20.17.9, diffuse flow, are met and where a riparian 
buffer that meets the requirements of Section 6.20.17.6 is 
NOT established adjacent to the pond. 

  X 

Periodic maintenance of modified natural streams such as 
canals and a grassed travelway on one side of the surface 
water when alternative forms of maintenance access are 
not practical 

 X  

Protection of existing structures, facilities and 
streambanks when this requires additional disturbance of 
the riparian buffer or the stream channel 

 X  

Drainage of a pond in a natural drainage way provided 
that a new riparian buffer that meets the requirements of 
Section 6.20.17.6 is established adjacent the new channel. 

X   



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐80 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

Table 6.20.17.7 Permitted Uses within Riparian Buffer 

Riparian Buffer Use Exempt 
Upon Authorization 

Allowable 
Allowable 

w/Mitigation 

Water dependent structures as defined in 15A NCAC 02B 
.0202 

 X  

New water supply reservoirs provided that a riparian 
buffer that meets the requirements of Sections 6.20.17.6 
and 6.20.17.9 is established adjacent to the reservoir 

 X  

New water supply reservoirs where a riparian buffer that 
meets the requirements of Sections 6.20.17.6 and 
6.20.17.0 is NOT established adjacent to the reservoir 

  X 

Water wells X   

*Table 6.20.17.7 Notes 

1. For overhead utility lines in Zone 1 all of the following best management practices (BMPs) must be used. If all of 
these BMPs are not used, then the overhead utility lines shall require a no practical alternatives evaluation. 

 A minimum zone of 10 feet wide immediately adjacent to the water body shall be managed such that only 
vegetation that poses a hazard or has the potential to grow tall enough to interfere with the line is 
removed. 

 Woody vegetation shall be cleared by hand. No land grubbing or grading is allowed. 

 Vegetative root systems shall be left intact to maintain the integrity of the soil. Stumps shall remain where 
trees are cut. 

 Rip rap shall not be used unless it is necessary to stabilize a tower. 

 No fertilizer shall be used other than a one-time application to re-establish vegetation. 

 Construction activities shall minimize the removal of woody vegetation, the extent of the disturbed area, 
and the time in which areas remain in a disturbed state. 

 Active measures shall be taken after construction and during routine maintenance to ensure diffuse flow 
of stormwater through the buffer. 

 In wetlands, mats shall be utilized to minimize soil disturbance. 

 poles or towers shall not be installed within 10 feet of a water body unless 

2. For underground utility lines in Zone 1, all of the following BMPs must be used. If all of these BMPs are not used, 
then the underground utility line shall require a no practical alternatives evaluation. 

 Woody vegetation shall be cleared by hand. No land grubbing or grading is allowed. 

 Vegetative root systems shall be left intact to maintain the integrity of the soil. Stumps shall remain, 
except in the trench, where trees are cut. 

 Underground cables shall be installed by vibratory plow or trenching. 

 The trench shall be backfilled with the excavated soil material immediately following cable installation. 

 No fertilizer shall be used other than a one-time application to re-establish vegetation. 

 Construction activities shall minimize the removal of woody vegetation, the extent of the disturbed area, 
and the time in which areas remain in a disturbed state. 

 Active measures shall be taken after construction and during routine maintenance to ensure diffuse flow 
of stormwater through the buffer. 

 In wetlands, mats shall be utilized to minimize soil disturbance. 

3. Perpendicular crossings are those that intersect the surface water at an angle between 75 degrees and 105 
degrees. 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐81 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

 

4. Requirements for Categories of Uses. Uses designated as exempt, allowable, allowable with mitigation and 
prohibited in Table 6.20.17.7 have the following requirements: 

(a) EXEMPT. Uses designated as exempt are allowed within the riparian buffer. Exempt uses shall be designed, 
constructed and maintained to minimize soil disturbance and to provide the maximum water quality 
protection practicable. In addition, exempt uses shall meet requirements listed Table 6.20.17.7 for the specific 
use. 

(b) ALLOWABLE. Uses designated as allowable may proceed within the riparian buffer provided that there are no 
practical alternatives to the requested use pursuant Section 6.20.17.8. These uses require written 
authorization from the Town of Hillsborough. 

(c) ALLOWABLE WITH MITIGATION. Uses designated as allowable with mitigation may proceed within the 
riparian buffer provided that there are no practical alternatives to the requested use pursuant to Section 
6.20.17.8 and an appropriate mitigation strategy has been approved pursuant Section 6.20.17.10. These uses 
require written authorization from the Town of Hillsborough. 

(d) PROHIBITED. Uses designated as prohibited may not proceed within the riparian buffer unless a variance is 
granted pursuant to Section 3.10 of this ordinance. Mitigation may be required as one condition of a variance 
approval. 

5. It should be noted that where application of the riparian buffer requirements would preclude construction of a 
single-family residence and necessary infrastructure, such as an on-site wastewater system, the single-family 
residence may encroach on the buffer if all of the following conditions are met: 

(a) Applies only to single-family residence lots of two acres in size or less that was platted and recorded with the 
Orange County Register of Deeds prior to August 1, 2000. 

(b) The residence is set back the maximum feasible distance from the top of the bank, rooted herbaceous 
vegetation, normal high-water level, or normal water level, whichever is applicable, on the existing lot and 
designed to minimize encroachment into the riparian buffer. 

(c) The residence is set back a minimum of 30 feet landward of the top of the bank, rooted herbaceous 
vegetation, normal high-water level, or normal water level, whichever is applicable. 

(d) Stormwater generated by new impervious surface within the riparian buffer is treated and diffuse flow of 
stormwater is maintained through the buffer. 

(e) If the residence will be served by an on-site wastewater system, no part of the septic tank or drainfield may 
encroach into the riparian buffer. The method for measuring the setbacks required under subdivisions (1) 
and (2) of this section shall be consistent with the method for measuring the applicable buffer as provided in 
15A NCAC 02B .0233(4) and 15A NCAC 02B .0259(4). 

 
 

Table 6.20.17.7 Permitted Uses within Riparian Buffers 

 
Riparian Buffer Use 

 
Allowable 

Allowable 
w/Mitigation 

 

Perpendicular crossings of above ground and buried utility lines for local distribution 
of electricity, telephone, and cable television service, plus accessory and 
appurtenant apparatus such as poles, guy wires, transformers, and switching boxes, 
with a construction width of less than or equal to 40 feet and a 10‐foot maintenance 
corridor. 

 

 
X 

 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐82 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

 

U t i l i t i e s 

 

Perpendicular utility crossings that exceed 40 feet of construction width 
and/or require more than a 10‐foot maintenance corridor through the 
riparian buffer. 

  

 
 

X 

 

Non‐perpendicular riparian buffer impacts for utilities. 
 

 

X 

 

W
at

e
r 

an
d

 S
ew

er
 

 

Perpendicular crossings of water and sewage distribution, collection, 
and treatment facilities, but not private in‐ground sewage disposal 
facilities, with a construction width of less than or equal to 40 feet and 
a 10‐foot maintenance corridor. 

 

 
 
 
 

X 

 

 

Perpendicular water and sewage crossings that exceed 40 feet of 
construction width and/or require more than a 10‐foot maintenance 
corridor through the riparian buffer. 

  

 
 

X 

 

Non‐perpendicular riparian buffer impacts for public water and sewage 
distribution. 

 
 

X 

 

Water wells 
 

X 
 

 

St
re

et
s 

an
d

 B
ri

d
ge

s 

 

Perpendicular crossings of streets, bridges, and railroad rights‐of‐ 
way impacting less than 150 feet of riparian buffer. 

 

 
 

X 

 

 

Perpendicular crossings of streets, bridges, and railroad rights‐of‐way that 
exceed 150 feet of riparian buffer impact. 

  

 
 

X 
 

Temporary access roads disturbing less than 2,500 square feet of 
riparian buffer provided vegetation is restored within six months of 
initial disturbance. 

 

 
 

X 

 

 

Temporary roads disturbing more than 2,500 square feet of riparian buffer. 
 

 

X 

 

Non‐perpendicular riparian buffer impacts of streets and railroad rights‐of‐ 
way 

 
 

X 

 

R
es

to
ra

ti
o

n
 

 

Stream restoration and/or stream bank stabilization. 
 

X 
 

 

Wetland restoration, in accordance with all applicable local, State and 
Federal regulations. 

 

 

X 

 

 

Removal of previous fill or debris provided that diffuse flow is maintained 

and any vegetation removed is restored. 

 

X 
 

 

St
o

rm
w

at
er

 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

 

Maintenance of existing stormwater outfalls provided they are managed to 
minimize the sediment, nutrients, and other pollution they convey to 
waterbodies. 

 
 

X 

 

 

New drainage outfalls provided that a stormwater management facility is 
installed to control nutrients and attenuate flow before the conveyance 
discharges into the riparian buffer. 

  
 

X 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐83 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

 

Engineered stormwater ponds, bioretention and wetlands provided that a 
riparian buffer meeting the requirements of Section 6.20.16.3 is established. 

 

X 
 

 

Engineered stormwater ponds, bioretention and wetlands where a riparian 
buffer cannot be established in accordance with Section 6.20.16.3. 

  
X 

 

M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
 

 

Drainage of a pond in a natural drainage way provided that a new riparian 
buffer that meets the requirements of Section 6.20.16.6 is established 
adjacent the new channel. 

 
 

X 

 

 

Maintenance activities of existing dams 
 

X 
 

 

Periodic maintenance of modified natural streams 
 

X 
 

 

Protection of existing structures, facilities and streambanks when this 
requires additional disturbance of the riparian buffer or the stream channel 

 

 

X 

 

 

M
is

ce
lla

n
eo

u
s 

 

Greenways 
 

X 
 

 

Archeological research and excavation 
 

X 
 

 

Scientific studies and stream gauging 
 

X 
 

 

Fences provided that disturbance is minimized and existing trees and woody 
vegetation is not disturbed during installation and maintenance 

 

X 
 

 

Ponds in natural drainage ways (excluding dry ponds) provided that a 
riparian buffer meeting the requirements of Section 6.20.16.3 is established 

 

X 
 

 

Ponds in natural drainage ways (excluding dry ponds) where a riparian buffer 
cannot be established in accordance with Section 6.20.16.3 

  
X 

 

Water dependent structures as defined in 15A NCAC 2B .0202 
 

X 
 

 

 

6.20.17.8 Written Authorization Required 
 

Proposed impacts from permitted uses to the riparian buffer may not commence until 
written authorization is provided by the Planning Director or designee. Use 
authorization may include conditions specific to the proposed activity. Unauthorized 
impacts to riparian buffers are subject to enforcement penalties as outlined in Section 
8, Enforcement. 

 

In order for a permitted use to be authorized, the applicant must demonstrate “no 
practical alternatives.” The determination of “no practical alternatives” will be made 
by the Planning Director or designee based upon the following: 

(a) The basic project purpose cannot be practically accomplished in a manner that 
would better minimize disturbance, preserve aquatic life and habitat, and protect 
water quality. 

(b) The use cannot practically be reduced in size or density, reconfigured or 
redesigned to better minimize disturbance, preserve aquatic life and habitat, and 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐84 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

protect water quality. 

(c) Best management practices shall be used if necessary to minimize disturbance, 
preserve aquatic life and habitat, and protect water quality. 

 

Prior to any land disturbing activity within a designated riparian buffer, the property 
owner shall provide written notification of the location and nature of the proposed use 
to the Planning Director or designee for review. Written notification must include the 
following: 

(a) The name, address and phone number of the applicant; 

(b) The nature of the activity to be conducted by the applicant; 

(c) The location of the activity; 

(d) A map of sufficient detail to accurately delineate the boundaries of the land to be 
utilized in carrying out the activity, the location and dimensions of any disturbance 
in the riparian buffers associated with the activity, and the extent of the riparian 
buffers on the land; and (e) An explanation of why this plan for the activity cannot 
be practically accomplished, reduced or reconfigured to better minimize 
disturbance to the riparian buffer, preserve aquatic life and habitat and protect 
water quality. 

(f) Plans for any best management practices proposed to be used to control the 
impacts associated with the activity. 

 

6.20.17.9 Diffuse Flow Requirement 
 

(a) Diffuse flow or runoff shall be maintained in the riparian buffer by dispersing 
concentrated flow and re‐establishing vegetation. 

 

(b) Concentrated runoff from new ditches or manmade conveyances shall be 
converted to diffuse flow before the runoff enters the riparian buffer. 

 

(c) Periodic corrective action to restore diffuse flow shall be taken if necessary to 
impede the formation of erosion gullies. 

 

6.20.17.10 Mitigation 
 

Where mitigation is required pursuant to the permitted uses listed in Section 6.20.17.7, 
Permitted Uses Within Riparian Buffers, mitigation shall follow the standards set out in 
the state’s consolidated Riparian Buffer Mitigation Rule, 15A NCAC 02B .0295. 

 

6.20.17.11 Riparian Buffer and Minimum Lot Requirements and Recorded Plats 
 

The riparian buffer may be used in meeting the required minimum lot areas set forth in 
the Ordinance. The riparian buffer must be shown on all recorded plats as detailed in 
the Administrative Manual. 

 

6.20.17.12  Existing Vegetation and New Vegetation in Riparian buffers 
 

Existing vegetation shall not be disturbed within a riparian buffer without prior 
approval of the Planning Director or designee. Existing vegetation may be augmented 
within the buffer and invasive vegetation may be removed if the Planning Director or 
designee approves the plans in advance. Any work done in the riparian buffer must be 
designed and intended to increase the infiltration capability of the buffer and reduce 



Section 6: Development Standards Page 6‐85 

Hillsborough Unified Development Ordinance  

 

the velocity of storm water run‐off. 
 

In the situation where the required buffer experiences erosion problems due to 
topography or other existing conditions of the land, the Planning Director or designee 
shall require that the buffer be planted so that it will function as a sediment and 
pollutant trap. Such planting shall be completed prior to the issuance of a Certificate 
of Occupancy. 

 

The use of pesticides, herbicides, or chemicals is not allowed in the riparian buffer 
except with the prior approval of the Planning Director or designee, and only allowed 
as described within the Neuse Buffer Rules. 

 

  


	01 agenda
	02 PB minutes September 2016
	03 JPH minutes October 2016
	04 2017MeetingCal_PB
	05 Vouthaus Staff Report
	05.1 vouthaus app
	05.2 little school app
	05.2 site map
	05.3 ARU intent use
	06 little school Staff Report
	06.1 little school waivers
	06.2 neighbor email
	06.3 little school plans
	07 text amendment cover
	07.1 Section 6.20 UDO Updated July 2016

